
 
 

 
 
 
16 February 2022 
 
 
To: Councillors Benson, Brookes, Campbell, Farrell, Hobson, Hugo, Smith, Taylor and 

L Williams  
 

The above members are requested to attend the:  
 

EXECUTIVE 
 

Thursday, 24 February 2022 at 6.00 pm 
in the Council Chamber, Town Hall, Blackpool 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

 Members are asked to declare any interests in the items under consideration and in 
doing so state:  
 
(1) the type of interest concerned either a 
 

(a) personal interest 
(b) prejudicial interest  
(c) disclosable pecuniary interest (DPI) 

 
and 
 
(2) the nature of the interest concerned 
 
If any member requires advice on declarations of interests, they are advised to contact 
the Head of Democratic Governance in advance of the meeting. 

 
2  SUPPORTED HOUSING SCRUTINY REVIEW FINAL REPORT  (Pages 1 - 16) 

 
 To consider the final report of the Scrutiny Review on Supported Housing.  

 
3  UPDATE TO THE COUNCIL PLAN  (Pages 17 - 56) 

 
 To present the final draft of the update to the Council Plan 2019-24 to Executive for 

comment and to recommend approval to the Council meeting.  
 

Public Document Pack



Once approved by the Council this document will form part of the Policy Framework. 
 

4  COUNCIL TAX 2022/23  (Pages 57 - 62) 
 

 To consider and recommend to the Council proposals for Blackpool Council’s level of 
Council Tax for 2022/23 and the General Fund Revenue Budget 2022/23. 
 
Once approved by Council this document will form part of the Budget Framework. 
 

 
5  BLACKPOOL HERITAGE AND MUSEUM TRUST  (Pages 63 - 70) 

 
 To consider setting up a charitable company to run the museum, known as ‘Showtown’ 

and to take over the operation of the Blackpool Heritage Service in due course. 
 

 

Venue information: 
 
First floor meeting room (lift available), accessible toilets (ground floor), no-smoking building. 
 

Other information: 
 

For queries regarding this agenda please contact Lennox Beattie, Executive and Regulatory 
Manager, Tel: (01253) 477157, e-mail lennox.beattie@blackpool.gov.uk 
 

Copies of agendas and minutes of Council and committee meetings are available on the 
Council’s website at www.blackpool.gov.uk. 

 

http://www.blackpool.gov.uk/


Report to: EXECUTIVE 

Relevant Officer: Sharon Davis, Scrutiny Manager 

Relevant Cabinet Member  Councillor Jo Farrell, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care 
and Health 

Date of Decision 24 February 2022 

 
 

SUPPORTED HOUSING SCRUTINY REVIEW FINAL REPORT 
  
1.0 
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1 To consider the Supported Housing Scrutiny Review final report. 
 

2.0 Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1 To consider the report and offer a response to the recommendations contained 
within the Action Plan. 
 

3.0 
 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 
 

The recommendations contained within final report seek to deliver improvements in 
supported housing standards. 
 

3.2 Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 
approved by the Council? 
 

No 

3.3 Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 
budget? 
 

Yes 

4.0 
 

Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

 The Executive must consider the recommendations outlined in the Scrutiny Review but 
may accept them, reject them or vary them. 
 
 

5.0 Council Priority: 
 

5.1 The relevant Council priority is: “Creating stronger communities and increasing 
resilience”. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



6.0 Background Information 
 

6.1 
 

During the Adult Social Care and Health Scrutiny Committee Workplanning Workshop 

held in July 2020, Members identified the issue of supported housing as a topic they 

wished to explore further after discovering the concerns related to the quality of 

housing provided and the levels of support on offer to vulnerable adults.  

 

6.2 
 
 

The final report details the findings and recommendations of the Panel and is 
attached at Appendix 2(a).  

6.3 
 
 
 
 
 
6.4 

In accordance with the Overview and Scrutiny / Cabinet Member Relations Protocol, 
the final report has been considered by the Adult Social Care and Health Scrutiny 
Committee, which approved the report for consideration by the Executive, and 
subsequently relevant partners. Councillor Jo Farrell as the relevant Cabinet Member, 
has provided her comments on the recommendations contained within the report. 
 
The Chairman of Adult Social Care and Health Scrutiny Committee, Councillor Adrian 
Hutton, has been invited to the Executive meeting to make representations on behalf 
of the Committee. 
 

6.5 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 
 

No 

7.0 List of Appendices: 
 

 

 Appendix 2(a): Supported Housing Scrutiny Review final report. 
 

8.0 Financial considerations: 
 

8.1 
 

Contained within the body of the report. 
 

9.0 Legal considerations: 
 

9.1 Contained within the body of the report. 
 

10.0 Risk Management considerations: 
 

10.1 
 

Not applicable. 
 

11.0 Equalities considerations: 
 

11.1 
 

None. 
 
 

Page 2



12.0 Sustainability, climate change and environmental considerations: 
 

12.1 None. 
 

13.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 
 

13.1 
 

Contained within the body of the report. 
 

14.0 Background papers: 
 

14.1 
 

None. 

15.0 Key decision information: 
 

15.1 Is this a key decision? 
 

No 

15.2 If so, Forward Plan reference number: 
 

      

15.3 If a key decision, is the decision required in less than five days? 
 

No 

15.4 If yes, please describe the reason for urgency: 
 

  
16.0 Call-in information: 

 
16.1 Are there any grounds for urgency, which would cause this decision to 

be exempt from the call-in process?  
 

 
 No 

16.2 If yes, please give reason: 
 

 
 

 

 
TO BE COMPLETED BY THE HEAD OF DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE 

 
17.0 Scrutiny Committee Chairman (where appropriate): 

 
 Date informed:       Date approved: 

 
      

 
18.0 Declarations of interest (if applicable): 

 
18.1       
 

Page 3



19.0 Executive decision: 
 

19.1       
 

20.0 Date of Decision:    
 

20.1       
 

21.0 Reason(s) for decision: 
 

21.1       
 

22.0 Date Decision published: 
 

  
23.0 Executive Members present:   

 
23.1       

 
24.0 Call-in:   

 
24.1       
 
25.0 Notes :   

 
25.1  
 

Page 4



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

SUPPORTED HOUSING SCRUTINY REVIEW                                                                                Page 1 of 12 
FINAL REPORT  

Appendix 2a   
 

 
 

 
 
 

Supported Housing 
Scrutiny Review 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

SUPPORTED HOUSING SCRUTINY REVIEW                                                                                Page 2 of 12 
FINAL REPORT  

CONTENTS          PAGE 
 

 
1.0 Foreword by Chairman          3 
 
2.0 Summary of Recommendations        4 
 
3.0 Background Information          5 
 
4.0 Methodology           6 
 
5.0 Detailed Findings and Recommendations       7 

         
6.0 Financial and Legal Considerations        11 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

SUPPORTED HOUSING SCRUTINY REVIEW                                                                                Page 3 of 12 
FINAL REPORT  

1.0 Foreword  
 
1.1 The Adult Social Care and Health Scrutiny Committee identified the issue of supported 

housing as one of serious concern. The lack of regulation provides the potential for 
vulnerable adults to be exploited and not be provided with the support they require. As a 
result of this key concern being identified, the Committee resolved that a review panel 
was required to take a deep-dive into this issue to try and come up with ways in which 
the sector could be improved in Blackpool. 
 

1.2 The Review Panel gathered a lot of information in order to form its conclusions, and as a 
result of the interim report, Blackpool standards for adults and young people have been 
developed. This is the first step in setting out what we want for our residents. These 
standards might not be enforceable until a change in regulation but with the tireless 
efforts of our officers, providers will be encouraged and supported to attain these 
standards ensuring that those residing in this type of accommodation receive the help 
they need. It is hoped that the Council will formally adopt these standards and continue 
to lobby MPs and Government for the changes to regulation so desperately needed. 

 
1.3 I would like to thank the key officers that participated in this review for their knowledge, 

input and dedication, namely Kate Aldridge, Vikki Piper and Louise Jones, and their teams 
for carrying out the work on the supported housing pilot scheme which has 
demonstrated what can be achieved. I would also like to thank all of the Members that 
participated in this review for their time and contribution, which has resulted in 
something that can provide real change and improvement for Blackpool residents. 

 
Councillor Adrian Hutton 
Chairman, Supported Housing Scrutiny Review Panel 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

SUPPORTED HOUSING SCRUTINY REVIEW                                                                                Page 4 of 12 
FINAL REPORT  

2.0 Summary of Recommendations 
 

 Timescale 

Recommendation One 
 

That the Supported Housing Scrutiny Review Panel endorses the 
Supported Housing Standards for Adults and separate Youth 
Standards and Charter for adoption by the Executive. 
 

 

Recommendation Two 
 
That the Council continues to lobby the Government to introduce 
regulation or legislation to allow the Council to enforce its 
approach to supported housing as set out in the agreed 
standards. 

 

 

Page 8



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

SUPPORTED HOUSING SCRUTINY REVIEW                                                                                Page 5 of 12 
FINAL REPORT  

3.0 Background Information 
 
3.1 The Adult Social Care and Health Scrutiny Committee first received a report on the 

provision of supported housing on 7 January 2020. The report provided an overview of 
supported housing in the town, defining supported housing as any housing scheme 
where accommodation is provided alongside care (not necessarily commissioned social 
care), support or supervision to help people live as independently as possible in the 
community. This includes: 

 

 Older people with support needs 

 People with learning and physical disabilities 

 Individuals and families at risk of or recovering from homelessness 

 People recovering from drug or alcohol dependency 

 Offenders and ex-offenders 

 Vulnerable young people (such as care leavers or teenage parents) 

 People with mental ill health 

 People at risk of domestic abuse. 
 
3.2 The Committee learnt during the course of the meeting that supported housing was 

funded through housing benefit, that there had been an increase in the number of 
supported accommodation schemes in the area over the previous few years, that due to 
the nature of the schemes they could attract very high rents and service charges which 
landlords expected to be met through housing benefit and that schemes did not always 
attract full subsidy from the Department of Work and Pensions and could therefore be 
costly to the local authority. 

 
3.3 Key concerns raised during the meeting included the cost of supported housing, with the 

average weekly rent per tenant varying between £79.90 and £355.58 per week; the lack 
of regulation of providers – although national standards for supported housing had been 
produced they were guidance and not legally enforceable; and that vulnerable people 
with mixed and sometimes conflicting needs were often placed together with support 
that was not appropriate to meet their needs. The Committee therefore determined that 
a scrutiny review be established to further investigate supported housing and to invite 
representatives of the Tourism, Economy and Communities Scrutiny Committee be 
invited to attend to provide a joined up approach. 

 
3.4 This review related to the following priority of the Council: 
 
 Communities: Creating stronger communities and increasing resilience. 
 

 

 

 

Page 9



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

SUPPORTED HOUSING SCRUTINY REVIEW                                                                                Page 6 of 12 
FINAL REPORT  

4.0 Methodology 
 
4.1 The Panel held three formal meetings where they gathered evidence and began to form 

their conclusions and recommendations during these meetings.  
 
Details of the meetings are as follows: 

 

Date 
 

 
Attendees 

 
Purpose 

 

10 November 
2020 

Councillors Burdess (in the Chair), Hunter, 
O’Hara, Mrs Scott, Walsh and Wing 
 
Vikki Piper, Acting Head of Housing 
 
Councillor Neal Brookes, Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Welfare Reform 
 
Sharon Davis, Scrutiny Manager 
 

To receive details regarding 
the Ministry of Communities, 
Housing and Local 
Government pilot scheme for 
supported housing in 
Blackpool. 

3 March 2021 Councillor Burdess (in the  Chair), Galley, 
O’Hara, Hunter, Hutton, Mitchell, D Scott, Mrs 
Scott, Walsh and Wing 
 
Kate Aldridge, Head of Commissioning and 
Corporate Delivery 
Vikki Piper, Acting Head of Housing 
Louise Jones,  
 
Councillor Jo Farrell, Cabinet Member for Adult 
Social Care and Health 
Councillor Neal Brookes, Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Welfare Reform 

To receive an update on the 
progress of the pilot scheme, 
an overview of the current 
situation regarding supported 
housing in Blackpool, the 
existing threshold and 
current criteria for supported 
housing, the potential 
vulnerabilities of adults in 
supported housing, the 
impact on anti-social 
behaviour, the cost to the 
Council and the current role 
of the Council. 
 

17 March 
2021 
 

Supported Housing Scrutiny Review Interim report submitted to the Executive 
for approval. 

9 November 
2021 

Councillors Hutton (in the Chair), O’Hara, 
Jackson, D Scott and Mrs Scott 
 
Kate Aldridge, Head of Commissioning and 
Corporate Delivery 
Vikki Piper, Head of Housing 
Lance Postings, Benefits Manager 
 
Sharon Davis, Scrutiny Manager 
 

To consider the progress 
made on the 
recommendations in the 
interim report namely the 
development of the 
standards for supported 
housing, plus an update 
following the conclusion of 
the pilot scheme. 

Page 10



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

SUPPORTED HOUSING SCRUTINY REVIEW                                                                                Page 7 of 12 
FINAL REPORT  

5.0 Detailed Findings and Recommendations 
 
5.1  Introduction 
 
5.1.1 This final report follows on from the interim report submitted to the Executive in March 

2021 when the following recommendations were approved:  
 

To recommend to the Executive that Blackpool Council establishes its own standards for 
what supported housing should look like in the town and that scrutiny plays an active 
role in developing these standards.  
 
To recommend to the Executive that the Council writes a letter to the local MPs setting 
out the key issues relating to supported housing in the town and requests that they lobby 
Government for new legislation that allows for more control over the sector. 

 
That the Scrutiny Panel reconvenes in due course to consider the issue of ‘out of area 
placements’ further. 

 
5.1.2 The final report reiterates the findings set out in the interim report and also adds the 

detail of the final meeting of the Panel when the draft standards were presented and 
considered by Members and the response of the MPs to the recommendation to write to 
them regarding the concerns raised during the review.  

 
5.2 Recap of the interim report 
 
5.2.1 The Review Panel was established comprising members of the Adult Social Care and 

Health Scrutiny Committee and three members of the Tourism, Economy and Community 
Scrutiny Committee due to the cross-cutting nature of the issue. It was originally 
scheduled to meet during March 2020, however, due to the Covid-19 pandemic the 
meeting was postponed and the Review Panel eventually held its first meeting in 
November 2020. At this first meeting, Members were informed that the Council had 
successfully bid to participate in a pilot scheme related to supported housing with the 
then Ministry of Communities, Housing and Local Government. As part of the pilot, the 
authority would be looking to use the existing tools, powers and regulations in order to 
try and influence supported housing developments and gain some control over the 
support provided to residents and where the provision was located. This would then 
create an evidence base to be submitted to Government to allow them to see what 
worked and what might need changing in order to gain control of the issue. 

 
5.2.2 During the first Panel meeting Members delved deeper into the concerns raised that 

vulnerable people were not receiving the support they needed and it was considered that 
the pilot scheme would offer an increased level of scrutiny on quality standards. Concern 
was also raised regarding the high levels of supported housing in some wards where 
former, large holiday accommodation was situated. The prevalence on particular roads or 
areas often resulted in high levels of anti-social behaviour which affected local residents 
and could have a detrimental impact on the wider population and it was noted that the 
pilot aimed to address this issue. Planning and legal advice over the control and location 
of supported housing was also being considered as a key part of the pilot. 

Page 11



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

SUPPORTED HOUSING SCRUTINY REVIEW                                                                                Page 8 of 12 
FINAL REPORT  

5.2.3 The Review Panel met for a second time in March 2021 to consider a number of aspects 
of supported housing in more detail including the existing thresholds and current criteria 
to be met, how risks and vulnerabilities of people in the accommodation were identified, 
the cost to the Council and the current and potential future roles of the Council.  

 
5.2.4 Key areas of discussion during the meeting included the difference between matched and 

unmatched supported accommodation, the extent to which tenants were known to Adult 
Social Care, the potential exploitation of vulnerable adults, an update on the pilot 
scheme and the large number of people placed in supported accommodation from 
outside of the Blackpool area. 

 
5.2.5 Members considered that despite the fact that they would currently be unenforceable, 

work should begin on the Blackpool standards for supported accommodation. The 
Blackpool standards could go over and above the national standards as appropriate to set 
out the Council’s aspiration for support and accommodation in the town. There could be 
separate standards dependent on the tenant and support required. It was noted that 
during the pilot process, it had been suggested that local standards would be appropriate 
and the Panel considered that Scrutiny should have an active involvement in their 
development. 

 
5.2.6 It was considered that the key change required to ensure improvement in supported 

housing provision was for stronger legislation to be introduced in order to allow the 
Council to take action on providers to make improvements and compel them to engage 
with the Council more thoroughly in order to identify whether the scheme was 
appropriate for the town in the first instance. Stronger legislation could give the Council 
more influence over location, type as well as quality of provision. 

 
5.2.7 A final key area of concern identified during the meeting was the high number of 

vulnerable people being brought in from out of area by providers in order to take places 
within supported housing in the town. Concern was raised that some other local 
authorities might be aware of the practice and appointed agencies to locate vulnerable 
and difficult to place adults in Blackpool, resulting in a person outside of their home town 
with no local connections and therefore increasing their vulnerability. It was noted that in 
2018, 84% of new housing benefit claimants for all types of accommodation in Blackpool 
had been made by adults from out of the area. Members considered that this issue 
required further investigation to determine whether any action could be taken in order 
to influence future placements. 

 
5.2.8 The Review Panel agreed that in order to progress with the recommendations identified 

as quickly as possible that an interim report of the Panel be submitted for consideration 
by the Executive with a further meeting established in due course to consider the 
outstanding issues. 

 
5.3 Consideration of the draft standards 
 
5.3.1 The Supported Housing Scrutiny Review Panel was reconvened on 9 November 2021 in 

order to consider the suite of documents that had been developed following the first two 
meetings of the Panel and the outstanding issue of out of area placements. The 
comments and concerns raised by Members in previous meetings had been used to 

Page 12



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

SUPPORTED HOUSING SCRUTINY REVIEW                                                                                Page 9 of 12 
FINAL REPORT  

shape the work and Officers had worked closely with young people in order to co-
produce the standards of supported housing for young people. The documents 
considered were as follows: 

 Quality Standards for Adults 
 Quality Standards for Young People  

 Charter of Rights Young People 

 Charter Mark Young People 

 Sufficiency and Market Position Statement (Needs Assessment) 

 Costing Report 
 
5.3.2 The Panel was informed that the pilot scheme had concluded and the evidence gathered 

passed to the Government for consideration. The learning from the pilot had been used 
in the development of the draft quality standards and a number of key processes had 
been introduced. A new multi-disciplinary team was providing a single point of contact 
for new providers, existing supported housing schemes had been reviewed to compare 
what had been promised by the scheme with what was actually being delivered and a 
team of young inspectors had been assembled. Enforcement visits had also been 
undertaken where appropriate. 

 
5.3.3 A clear market position statement had been developed in order to inform of the 

requirements for supported housing in Blackpool. It was important to note that good 
quality supported tenancies helped people hugely and could produce fantastic outcomes. 
There was no desire to remove the providers that produced great work and a positive 
experience for people.  

 
5.3.4 Two different sets of quality standards had been produced, one set for adults and the 

other for young people. This was due to differences in requirement and enforceability in 
the youth market. The supported housing market for adults was larger but as yet there 
had been no changes with regards to the introduction of any new legislation and the 
standards had been developed to identify best practice. A self-assessment toolkit had 
been developed to allow providers to measure for themselves whether they were 
meeting the standards set out with the expectation they would be adhered to. If and 
when new legislation was introduced the standards could be amended to include any 
additional powers. This differed from the sector for young people which was 
commissioned by the Council, ensuring that there was more ability to make changes 
when standards were not being met. Whilst co-producing the standards for supported 
housing for young people, the young people had determined that they also wished to 
introduce a charter mark and have a role in developing such a mark. 

 
5.3.5 The outcomes of the pilot included some reduction in spend mainly due to the 

prevention of new provision. There had been 23 enquiries made during the pilot scheme 
for new provision, the majority of which had been prevented. Other outcomes included 
better working relationships with many providers, a best practice model of young 
inspectors which had been utilised in a number of settings and a network of intelligence 
across partners. The Panel discussed the sustainability of the processes put in place 
during the pilot when further budget reductions must be met and it was noted that many 
processes could be continued through the passion and determination of staff to ensure 
supported housing was monitored. 

 

Page 13



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

SUPPORTED HOUSING SCRUTINY REVIEW                                                                                Page 10 of 12 
FINAL REPORT  

5.3.6 The specific issue of out of area placements was raised as an outstanding issue from 
previous discussions. It was noted that the issue had been that vulnerable adults from a 
wide geographical area were being placed in supported housing in Blackpool when they 
had no prior links to the town. This then had an impact on other service provision 
required to support the individuals. It was noted that due to the impact of the work 
carried out to date and the general reduction in new supported housing schemes, that 
there had also been a positive impact on this specific issue. It was recognised that there 
remained legacy issues from those schemes established prior to the pilot. 

 
5.3.6 Members considered the suite of documents in detail and commended the work that had 

gone into the development of the documents and highlighted the importance of having 
the legislation in place to give additional strength to enforcing the standards required by 
the Council. The Panel agreed to endorse the documents for adoption by the Council. 

 
5.4 Lobbying for formal regulation 
 
5.4.1 The interim report contained a recommendation to write to the MPs for Blackpool which 

had been completed. It was reported that both MPs had responded positively to the 
concerns raised by the Scrutiny Panel. Members determined that formal regulation was 
still required and requested that the MPs be contacted again in order to further highlight 
the legislative changes needed and seek their support. The meeting could also be used to 
set out the contents of the draft standards in Blackpool, the impact on residents when 
supported housing was not run adequately and the consequences of failings in support of 
residents. 

 
 

Recommendation One 
 

That the Supported Housing Scrutiny Review Panel endorses the Supported Housing 
Standards for Adults and separate Youth Standards and Charter for adoption by the 
Executive. 
 

Recommendation Two 
 
That the Council continues to lobby the Government to introduce regulation or 
legislation to allow the Council to enforce its approach to supported housing as set out 
in the agreed standards. 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

SUPPORTED HOUSING SCRUTINY REVIEW                                                                                Page 11 of 12 
FINAL REPORT  

6.0 Financial and Legal Considerations 

 
6.1 Financial 
 
6.1.1 There will be an ongoing cost of continued challenge and scrutiny of support housing 

providers to the Council as set out in the report. Officers aim to ensure the legacy of the 
pilot is continued and sustainable. 

 
6.2  Legal 
 
6.2.1 There are no regulations as yet in place for supported housing, the recommendation 

supports the continued lobbying of the Government for formal regulation of services and 
providers. 

 
 

Page 15



Blackpool Council 
Overview and Scrutiny - Improving Services for the Community 

 

 

 

SUPPORTED HOUSING SCRUTINY REVIEW                                                                                Page 12 of 12 
FINAL REPORT  

Supported Housing Scrutiny Action Plan 
 

 
Recommendation 

 

 
Cabinet Member’s 

Comments  

 
Rec Accepted 
by Executive?  

 
Target 

Date for 
Action 

 
Lead 

Officer 

 
Committee 

Update 

 
Notes  

Recommendation One 
 

That the Supported Housing 
Scrutiny Review Panel endorses 
the Supported Housing Standards 
for Adults and separate Youth 
Standards and Charter for 
adoption by the Executive. 
 

The Cabinet Member 
agrees with the 
recommendation and 
has no further 
comments to make. 

     

That the Council continues to 
lobby the Government to 
introduce regulation or legislation 
to allow the Council to enforce its 
approach to supported housing as 
set out in the agreed standards. 
 

The Cabinet Member 
agrees with the 
recommendation and 
has no further 
comments to make. 

     

 

P
age 16



Report to: EXECUTIVE 
 

Relevant Officer: Antony Lockley, Director of Strategy and Assistant CEO 

Relevant Cabinet Member: Councillor Lynn Williams, Leader of the Council 

Date of Meeting: 24 February, 2022 

 

UPDATE TO THE COUNCIL PLAN  
 

1.0 
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1 To present the final draft of the update to the Council Plan 2019-24 to Executive for 
comment and to recommend approval to the Council meeting.  
   

2.0 
 

Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1 
 
 

To recommend to the Council to approve the updated Council Plan attached at 
Appendix 3a, with effect until 31 December 2024. 

3.0 
 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 
 

In the Autumn of last year it was agreed that an updated Council Plan should be 
developed, reflecting the impact of the pandemic on our priority areas and to outline 
progress against the key ambitions and commitments which were made in the 
original plan.  The update does not serve as a replacement for the Council Plan, but 
offers residents and stakeholders an insight in to the key developments and progress 
which has occurred since publication in 2019. The current draft reflects the work 
undertaken thus far to progress this updated version. 
 

3.2 Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 
approved by the Council? 
 
 

 No 

3.3 Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 
budget? 
 
 
 

Yes 

4.0 
 

Other alternative options to be considered: 
 
The Executive could make amendments to the attached Council Plan  

  

Page 17

Agenda Item 3



5.0 Council Priority: 
 

5.1 The relevant Council priorities are 
 

  “Communities: Creating stronger communities and increasing resilience” 

 “The economy: Maximising growth and opportunity across Blackpool” 
 
Alongside our headline priorities above, the updated Council Plan details key activity 
in terms of the Council’s own organisational resilience. 

 
6.0 Background Information 

 
6.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.2 

The original Council Plan, 2019-2024, was published in 2019 following approval at the 
Council meeting on 30 January 2019. Many crucial changes and developments have 
happened since then. For example, the Council has declared a climate emergency 
and published its Climate Change Action Plan; the Council has responded positively to 
an intervention in Children’s Services; and the world has been gripped by the Covid-
19 pandemic, turning lives and services upside down, with the Council leading the 
way in a remarkable public service response since March 2020.  
 
As the the worst of the pandemic looks to be over, it is time to update the Council 
Plan, charting the extraordinary progress the Council has made on many key 
priorities despite the impact of Covid-19. The update to the plan does not change the 
Council’s headline priorities or key defined actions of the adopted plan, but there are 
some important alterations and additions to the original.  They are: 
 

 Communities now precedes economy in the structure of the plan 

 Inclusion of work to address the Climate Emergency 

 Important detail about the Council’s pandemic response and approach to 
recovery 

 
6.3 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 

 
No 

7.0 List of Appendices: 
 

 

 Appendix 3a: Council Plan 2019-24:  Progress Update 
 

8.0 Financial considerations:  
 

8.1 
 
 

The updated Council Plan was developed in line with the Council’s updated Medium 
Term Financial Sustainability Strategy (MTFSS).  
 
 
 

Page 18



9.0 Legal considerations: 
 

9.1 
 

None. 
 

10.0 Risk Management considerations: 
 

10.1 
 

None. 
 

11.0 Equalities considerations: 
 

11.1 
 

These are described in the plan. 

12.0 Sustainability, climate change and environmental considerations: 
 

12.1 The updated Council Plan features the Council’s headline activity to deliver on the 
Climate Emergency. 
 

13.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 
 

13.1  The plan is based on the findings of consultation undertaken for the previous plan.  
 

14.0 Background papers: 
 

14.1 
 

N/A 

15.0 Key decision information: 
 

15.1 Is this a key decision? 
 

Yes 
 

15.2 If so, Forward Plan reference number: 
 

20/2021 

15.3 If a key decision, is the decision required in less than five days? 
 

 No 

15.4 If yes, please describe the reason for urgency: 
 

  
16.0 Call-in information: 

 
16.1 Are there any grounds for urgency, which would cause this decision to 

be exempt from the call-in process?  
 

 
 No 

16.2 If yes, please give reason: 
 

  

Page 19



 
 

TO BE COMPLETED BY THE HEAD OF DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE 
 

17.0 Scrutiny Committee Chairman (where appropriate): 
 

 Date informed:  16 February 2022 Date approved: 
 

      

 
18.0 Declarations of interest (if applicable): 

 
18.1       

 
 
19.0 Executive decision: 

 
19.1       

 
20.0 Date of Decision:    

 
       

 
 
21.0 Reason(s) for decision: 

 
       

 
22.0 Date Decision published: 

 
       

 
23.0 Executive Members in attendance:   

 
23.1       

 
 
24.0 Call-in:   

 
24.1       

 
25.0 Notes:   

 
25.1       
 

Page 20



www.blackpool.gov.uk

Council Plan 2019–2024 
Progress Update

P
age 21



Foreword ............................................................................................................................................................................... 1
Introduction .......................................................................................................................................................................... 2
Our Council Plan ................................................................................................................................................................... 4

Communities: Creating stronger communities and increasing resilience .......................................... 6

Improving Outcomes for Young People ............................................................................................................ 9

Health and Social Care .......................................................................................................................................... 11

Supporting Families ................................................................................................................................................ 13

Increasing Resilience ...............................................................................................................................................14

Improving Housing................................................................................................................................................. 16

Climate emergency: Addressing the Climate Emergency ....................................................................... 19

The Economy: Maximise growth and opportunity across Blackpool ................................................. 22

Visitor Experience – Tourism and Culture ......................................................................................................24

Infrastructure and Regeneration ...................................................................................................................... 26

Enterprise, Skills and Economic Inclusion ...................................................................................................... 28

Addressing inequalities and promoting equality through our values .............................................................................. 30
A platform to deliver: ensuring a resilient organisation ....................................................................................................31
How we’ll deliver on our promises .................................................................................................................................... 32

Contents

Council 2019–2024 | Progress Update

P
age 22



Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update 1

People shape places and places shape people. The council is in a unique position to help on both counts – driving forward 
a modern vision of Blackpool, its economy and renewing its position as the premier seaside resort in the UK, while also 
providing the help, support and opportunities for local people to make the most of their lives. 

The world is constantly changing, but there are times when the pace and scale of 
change is greater. The past two years, with the world in the grip of COVID-19, has been 
one of those periods. The world in which the 2019-24 Council Plan was published has 
substantially altered and it is important that we reflect on those changes and consider 
our priorities and our plans and the progress that we have made.

Too often, Blackpool is described by the relatively negative life outcomes of its people. 
In such discussions, Blackpool is used to represent places that have been ‘left behind’ 
or areas in need of ‘levelling up’ – both terms that obscure the national policy choices 
that led to the situation. These terms also give an impression that Blackpool has been 
passively waiting for rescue. Nothing could be further from the truth.

Over the past decade, we have shown that we can do things differently. We have worked 
creatively and built partnerships, both locally, nationally and internationally, to change 
things in the town for the better. Working on our own and in partnership with others, 
we have shown that we can make a positive difference to the town and its people. The 
Blackpool Pride of Place Partnership and its town prospectus are emblematic of our 
collective drive and commitment to make things better for the town and its residents.

You can see the difference we have made most obviously in the regeneration of the 
town’s infrastructure and in the new homes we have built. More subtly, you can see it 
in the growing confidence of external investors in the town, with the new high quality 
branded hotels or the ambitious plans for Blackpool Central. You also see it in the support 
directly provided to children, families and adults in need of help, and in the work we do 
in partnership with other local services and local people to support the learning,  
well-being and opportunities available for all people in the town.

In the first period covered by the 2019 to 2024 plan we have delivered many of the building 
blocks for transforming and modernising the town. For the remaining period of the plan, we 
will strive to ensure that local people and businesses obtain the maximum benefit possible 
from these changes – this was always a core purpose of the plan and the past two years 
has only increased its importance. We will also invest in plans for our local communities, 
something that we have already begun with the Revoe and Claremont masterplans and 
we will extend this approach to key areas of South Shore over the coming years.

Since 2019 there have been many alarming changes, nationally and internationally.  
The COVID-19 pandemic has altered daily life for much of the past two years, while 
changes in the global climate have become more tangible and threatening. We have 
never been more connected to the wider world, while sometimes also being isolated. 
More than anything the last two years have emphasised the importance of people, 
family and community; and demonstrated what can be achieved through collective 
action harnessed to strong purpose. 

Cllr Lynn Williams 
Leader of the Council

Neil Jack 
Chief Executive 

Foreword

P
age 23



2 Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update

Introduction

The pace of change in Blackpool has been rapid in recent years. Post-COVID, our intent remains the same: to develop Blackpool as 
the UK’s number one family resort, to grow the local economy and to make the lives of Blackpool people better. This refresh of the 
plan considers the progress we have made since 2019 in delivering the projects described in the original plan, the challenges we 
still face and our objectives for years ahead.

Between the mid-2000s and the end of this plan, we will 
have delivered over £1bn of investment in the town. 
We have stopped the fall in the number of staying 
visitors, and given the private sector confidence to invest 
in the town. We have improved the town’s infrastructure: 
the defences, the tramways, trams and buses, the 
promenade, the Tower and the Winter Gardens. 
In the past three years we have built a new conference 
centre, begun the tram extension and its connection to 
Blackpool North train station. We have also seen new 
hotels opening and further ones under construction. We 
have arrested the decline of the town’s economy while 
putting in place the building blocks for a brighter future.

We have also sought to broaden the local economy 
beyond tourism, to push up average wages and reduce 
dependence on seasonal employment, with the co-
creation of two Enterprise Zones in the wider Fylde 
Coast which seek to deliver 6,500 extra jobs during their 
lifespan. We have also directly sought and encouraged 
new employers into the town, such as the Department 
of Work and Pensions, which will bring in 3,000 jobs into 
the heart of Blackpool. Over the next three years we will 
continue our drive towards a more rounded, resilient 

economy, with a variety of jobs to suit all skills, offering 
opportunities for local people and enabling them to 
live in the town as their career develops. The council’s 
work in the local housing market has been innovative 
and is nationally recognised. We have demolished 
or refurbished hundreds of poor quality houses and 
replaced them with quality affordable homes for rent 
and sale. We have also sought to directly improve the 
quality of homes in the private rented sector with a 
targeted approach to rogue landlords.

The last three years have also seen a transformation of 
the services we provide for the people of Blackpool. The 
original 2019-24 plan was written at a difficult time for 
the council’s Children’s Services – but huge strides have 
been made since, with the council investing heavily and 
focusing strongly and consistently on the quality of services 
that the council and its partners provide to children 
and families. We remain steadfast on our improvement 
journey, but the progress that has been made to date is 
clear from the recent positive inspection of local Youth 
Justice Services, the confidence of the government 
appointed Commissioner in the council’s ability to continue 
to improve children’s social care; and more widely in the 

achievement of local primary schools and in the growing 
strength of local schools in recent Ofsted inspections.

Looking at wider services for people, we have supported 
care for older people and more vulnerable members of 
the local community through the pandemic – and we 
are particularly proud of the work the council has done 
to support those most in need through the national 
lockdowns and beyond.

P
age 24



Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update 3

Our engagement with outside partners, both in terms of 
research and delivering services for the town’s residents 
remains strong. We continue our partnership with the 
NSPCC, A Better Start (now in its sixth year), in support of 
early development of children and parenting support for 
families. We have also built on the success of the lottery-
funded HeadStart initiative, in particular its innovative 
work in redesigning services in partnership with those 
who have received support (co-production). 

In the past two years, we have co-produced a new 
approach to children’s social care with parents, Blackpool 
Families Rock, and we are currently using the approach 
to support a redesign of services for parents with a high 
likelihood of their children entering care as new-borns -  
a particular challenge for the town. We also continue to 
work with the DfE and all local education partners in the 
Opportunity Area – now extended into a further year, 
which has helped support the reduction in permanent 
exclusions across the town and enabled more children to 
attend local primary and secondary schools.

Since 2019, when the plan was first published, there have 
been many changes, but in spite of the challenges that 
the town has faced, we are in a better place than before. 
The programme of investment and renewal in the town’s 
physical structure and appearance is reaping tangible 
benefits and the council’s (and its partners) renewal and 
improvement of services for people is improving the 
outcomes for local people. 

The critical role of local services in supporting those most 
in need has been one of the most important lessons of 
the past two years of the pandemic. We believe in public 
services and we are proud of the services that we provide. 
We will continue to deliver for our community, providing 
help to those who need it. If we are best placed to deliver 
services and lead work ourselves, we will. But we also 
know that the council can’t do it all and we will continue 
to work in partnership to deliver better services and 
outcomes for local people. 

The surge in visitors to the town during 2021 shows that 
Blackpool remains Britain’s number one family resort.  

The town’s ongoing regeneration offers more opportunities 
for local people and we will strive to support local people to 
take advantage of those opportunities. 

We want more people in Blackpool to have a good job 
that pays a real living wage and we will work with other 
local partners to ensure that workers are treated fairly. 
We want people to be healthy and live well. We want 
people to live in good quality homes. We know how 
important early childhood is. We are committed to 
helping local parents to raise children who aspire to the 
best things in life and have the knowledge and skills to 
reach their goals.

P
age 25



4 Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update

Our council plan

P
age 26



Retaining our position as the UK’s Number One family resort, with a thriving economy 
that supports a happy and healthy community who are proud of this unique town

Va
lu

es
: A

cc
ou

nt
ab

ili
ty

, C
om

pa
ss

io
n,

 F
ai

rn
es

s,
  

Q
ua

lit
y 

Se
rv

ic
es

, T
ru

st
w

or
th

in
es

s
Equalities: Fair Treatm

ent, diversity in decision-m
aking celebration 

increased respect, a representative and understanding w
orkforce

Working in partnership with our companies and other local organisations

A Resilient Organisation: Innovative, Efficient and Customer Focussed, with great staff and strong governance

Addressing Economic and Health Inequalities as part of our Pandemic Recovery
Delivering our Climate Action Plan, route to net zero and maximising social value

Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update 5

Improving outcomes 
for young people

Health & Social Care

Communities 
Creating stronger communities 
& increasing resilience

Supporting Families

Visitor Experience -  
Tourism & Culture

Infrastructure 
& Regeneration

The Economy 
Maximising growth & opportunity 
across Blackpool

Enterprise, Skills &  
Economic Inclusion

Improving Housing

P
age 27



Communities

P
age 28



Place headings here

Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update 7

Our people and communities are at the centre of life in Blackpool. Put simply, we aim to make the lives of local people better. 
We will provide help as needed, and focus in particular on early help, to prevent more serious challenges emerging. 

We know that a high proportion of local children, families 
and adults face major challenges in their daily lives - higher 
than in any other town in England. We are committed to 
making a positive difference in their lives – enhancing the 
opportunities available, raising aspirations, improving their 
health and well-being and increasing their ability to make 
positive choices about their lives.

The 2019-24 plan detailed three flagship projects – A 
Better Start, HeadStart and the Department for Education-
funded Opportunity Area – which marked a decisive shift 
towards enabling future generations and creating the right 
conditions for their success. The projects have continued 
over the past three years, with the Opportunity Area 
project extended into a fourth year, A Better Start now 
in its sixth year and HeadStart formally coming to an end 
later in 2022, with several key aspects now included in 
ongoing mainstream service and service design.

The 2019-24 plan provided less detail about the vital 
services that the council provides or commissions for local 
people in need of help. The pandemic has made it very 
clear how important these services are to people and to 
wider society and we are proud of our services that help 
local people in need.

During the pandemic the council’s Adult Social Care 
services played a critical role in supporting those who 
provide help for older people and vulnerable people – 
ensuring that they continued to receive the support they 
need, while also supporting the local care sector itself 
through the most difficult period it has ever experienced.

As in the original plan, our focus on building on local strengths 
remains, whether at an individual level or a service level. We 
wish to support local people in addressing their own problems, 
using their strengths and those of their wider family and 
friends. We also want to work with all local services to form 
an effective network of early support for children, families 
and adults – so that help is available at the right time from 
the right place and does not require escalation or referral 
for assessment and classification before help is provided. 

Across the town, we wish to create the right conditions for 
community life and mental health to flourish – something 
our Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy will address 
through creating and restoring green spaces, linking them 
together better to encourage their use. We also know how 
critically important having a good home is for all people 
and we will continue with our innovative approach to the 
renewal and creation of high quality affordable homes that 
enable local people to remain in the town as they prosper, 
while also attracting others to live and work in the town.

The past 2 years have shown the importance of where 
you live and what’s on your doorstep, both in terms of 
the services that are available but also in the condition of 
your local area. We have invested in street-cleaning and 
improved local parks. We have worked to protect and 
enhance the local environment, using enforcement where 
necessary and will continue to do so. We are using Social 
Value in our purchasing power to secure commitments 
in contracts from providers that deliver benefits to our 
communities and their spaces.

Communities: 
Creating Stronger Communities & Increasing Resilience

P
age 29



8 Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update

Making life better for everyone by 
focusing on prevention 
There are many people in Blackpool who need help in 
their daily lives. Many of the services most critical to 
supporting people’s health and wellbeing and their safety 
are either commissioned or directly provided by the 
council. Children’s Services works with over 4,000 children 
across a year and Adult Social Care services commission 
or provide support for just under 4,500 adults. 

Most of the council’s funds are spent in support of people 
in need, both children and adults, and over recent years 
we have worked hard to improve the support we provide 
to children and families. We have made good progress 
in the quality and impact of the services we deliver both 
directly and in partnership. This improvement is now 
evident in the outcomes being achieved by children 
and young people and by how Blackpool’s services are 
viewed by external partners, such as the Department for 
Education and Ofsted and other inspectorates.

We noted in the 2019-24 plan that there would be further 
changes, pressures and opportunities for adult social care 
to which we would need to respond. As we predicted 
there will be further changes in how health and care 
services are to be provided over the next few years, with 
the creation of Integrated Care Systems (from April 2021), 
which divides England into 42 areas, each with its own 
budget and responsibility for the better  
co-ordinating health and social care help for those in 
need. Blackpool is part of the Lancashire and South 
Cumbria ICS. We stated in the 2019-24 plan that our 
approach would remain steady: working closely with 
health services to challenge traditional ways of working, 
maximising the use of resources to support people in the 
community to be as independent as possible, make sure 
people who are in need of services are safe and supported 
and are able to play a meaningful part in their community. 
This will continue to be our approach.

P
age 30



Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update 9

Continue to 
implement the 
NSPCC - led 
A BetterStart 
initiative, 
improving life 
chances for 0-3 
year olds

Improve the 
experiences and 
outcomes of 
young people 
in our services 
by improving 
relationships 
between 
organisations

Communities: 
Improving Outcomes for Young People

UPDATE:

A Better Start is now in its sixth year and, in spite of the pandemic, in the past year 
has delivered four successful outreach schemes focusing on; Getting Ready for School; 
Winter Advocacy; New Parents; and Toddlers, which supported over 2,000 families. The 
initiative has been critical in developing local awareness about the critical importance of 
the first 1,000 days of a child’s life and has been instrumental in increasing the number 
of visits health visitors make to young children. While wider impact from the project on 
children’s outcomes is not yet fully evident, there has consistent improvement in the level 
of development at 12 months of infants in the town. Progress to date has been harder to 
achieve amongst the families facing the most acute challenges.

UPDATE:

Working closely with partners, we have improved the quality of services for vulnerable 
children and young people and the outcomes they achieve: there have been substantial 
reductions in the young people entering the criminal justice system, or custody. We have 
also worked with school leaders to transform our approach to children at risk of exclusion 
– reducing permanent exclusion rates by over half and reducing the number of children 
being educated outside of mainstream primary, secondary and special schools by 50%.

We are working collaboratively with the third sector to review the existing youth 
provision across the town.  Surveys and focus groups with young people have shown a 
real ownership and connection with their local community and the review will help shape 
the future of youth provision, with young people placed at the centre of any future plans.

By 2024, we will:

P
age 31



10 Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update

Facilitate a 
school led system 
which improves 
attainment at Key 
Stage 4

Communities: 
Improving Outcomes for Young People

Development 
of family hub 
model in local 
neighbourhoods 
for all age 
engagement 
and building 
community 
resilience

By 2024, we will:

UPDATE: 

Blackpool School Improvement Board has extended its focus to become the Blackpool 
Education Improvement Board – bringing together all local education leaders under 
an independent chair and with a 10 year strategy focusing on the two key issues in 
Blackpool: improving literacy and promoting inclusion in schools. Over recent years, we 
have seen improving results in Blackpool schools, with Primary schools out-performing 
the national average. External eyes also judge Blackpool’s schools to be improving – with 
nearly 90% now judged to be good or outstanding by Ofsted and none judged to be 
inadequate. We expect these improvements to translate to improved attainment at the 
end of secondary school in coming years and in coming years we will continue to work 
with central government to improve our education system through the new Education 
Investment Area initiative.

UPDATE: 

Delivery has been delayed by the pandemic, but three Family Hubs are now in place 
and services are now returning to the Hubs following a year of on/off lockdown. The 
council’s early help service for families has recently moved to a geographical, place-based 
approach. The service has also shifted its emphasis to running more courses to support 
families, especially to support parenting; and on supporting other professionals to work 
with families. The Family Workers in Schools project has been successful in building 
the skill and understanding of school staff in relation to the early help assessment and 
planning process. It is also helping improve the attendance and attainment of children 
and young people.

P
age 32



Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update 11

By 2024, we will:

Implement a 
new approach to 
delivering smoking 
cessation support 
and initiatives in 
the town

Shape the 
work of the 
council towards 
delivering the 
Green and Blue 
Infrastructure 
strategy, greening 
the town

By 2024, we will:

Communities: 
Health and Social Care

UPDATE:

A new innovative community smoking cessation service has been implemented in the 
town, which complements existing GP and Pharmacy support. Blackpool’s Community 
Stop Smoking Service provides bespoke help for all those who wish to stop smoking, 
providing free nicotine replacement therapy (NRT) at the point of contact. The service 
reaches out into the community, to local GP surgeries, community spaces, workplaces 
and uses social media. Blackpool also enables access to an App called ‘My Quit Route’ 
for those who prefer to receive help online either through choice or as a result of 
COVID restrictions.

UPDATE:

We have a tree strategy with a ‘right tree in the right place’ approach to ensure the 
council far exceeds its target of planting 10,000 trees by 2029. The Parks service is 
working closely with parks friends groups across the town to develop plans aimed at 
improving local green spaces for the local community. As the largest green space in 
Blackpool and winner of Park of the Year for two years, a ‘Stanley Park Masterplan’ will 
be developed collaboratively with key partners in 2022 setting out an ambitious plan to 
secure external funding to restore and transform the park over the following ten years.

P
age 33



12 Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update

 > Findo ut how you really compare <

Download your App LO G

Continue to 
increase numbers 
accessing drug 
and alcohol 
services at an 
earlier stage 
and sustaining a 
positive outcome

Increase physical 
activity levels 
amongst local 
residents to 
improve their 
physical, mental 
and social 
wellbeing

UPDATE:

We are using a range of initiatives to increase early access to drug and alcohol support. 
Approaches include the ‘Lower My Drinking’ app, which encourages people to assess 
their drinking and make positive changes, with referral to specialist services when 
needed. Since 2020, 857 people have engaged with the app. For younger people, the 
Young ADDER project is working with young people with a high level of need to try and 
tackle issues such as drug use. The service is currently working with 20 young people 
through the use of assertive outreach and the Lived Experience Team and the delivery 
of clinics in community settings.

UPDATE:

We adopted the Active Lives Strategy in January 2021, which stresses the importance 
of physical activity for physical, social and mental wellbeing. The strategy includes a 
number of ambitious objectives requiring collaboration with partners across the town 
to embed the importance and benefits of ‘moving more’ as a core theme in services 
that work directly with local residents. The strategy outlines the need for community 
engagement and delivery to target those who aren’t moving to ‘move a bit’ and those 
that ‘move a bit’ to ‘move a bit more’. Leisure service will shift its focus over the next 3 
to 5 years to target those who are less active by ensuring that local leisure facilities are 
seen as a key part of the local community in improving health and wellbeing.

Communities: 
Health and Social Care

By 2024, we will:

P
age 34



Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update 13

Communities: 
Supporting Families

Reduce numbers 
of looked after 
children in a 
safe, sustainable 
way through 
incremental 
improvements 
of the social care 
system

Work in 
partnership 
across Blackpool 
to review our 
approach to 
delivering 
safeguarding 
and support for 
families

UPDATE:

The number of children in care has reduced by 12% (80 children) since May 2020, against 
a rising national trend (up 1%). We have made a substantial investment in children’s social 
care, both in the service itself; and in particular in supporting more children to remain 
with their families, where possible; and in providing more local homes for those children 
in our care. Substantial progress has been made in the past two years, but much more still 
needs to be done.

UPDATE:

Too often in the past in Blackpool, children’s social care have become too involved, too 
early and with too many children and families. Blackpool council’s approach to working 
with families has fundamentally changed in the past two years. Blackpool Families Rock is 
a more positive, strength-based, relationship-based approach and one co-designed with 
local parents. We have also worked with local partners in reconsidering how we work 
with local families and when it is right for children’s social care to take a leading role, 
rather than others such as schools, nurseries or health visitors and GP practices who 
work on a daily basis with children and families.

By 2024, we will:

P
age 35



14 Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update

Communities: 
Increasing Resilience

Deliver whole 
system change 
by sustaining 
the HeadStart 
Resilience 
Revolution, 
increasing mental 
health resilience 
amongst 10 to 16 
year olds across 
the town

Improving the 
co-ordination of 
volunteers across 
the town

UPDATE:

Across the lifetime of the project, 45 schools participated, with over 3,500 primary 
school children benefiting from resilience-based classes or groups. 475 young people 
accessed walk and talk counselling in a place of their choice. Over 120 young people 
benefited from support with self-harm, none of whom subsequently returned to 
Accident & Emergency. Finally, 27 of our children now have a ‘friend for life’: a 
supportive adult that has made a lifetime commitment to the young person.  
This project has won the UK Youth award for innovation, helped achieve increased 
school attendance for the young people and no permanent exclusions from school.

UPDATE:

Local volunteers have been critical in the past 2 years. Hundreds of volunteers dedicate 
their time and expertise to the most vulnerable every week. Back in March 2020 during 
the first lockdown, Volunteers Centre Blackpool, Wyre and Fylde worked closely with 
Blackpool Council’s Corona Kindness to offer practical support for people who were 
isolating and to arrange vital befriending calls to connect with those most in need of 
social contact. The service has continued since after securing funding from Coronavirus 
Community Support Fund, as the BFriend Project. Throughout the pandemic the 
voluntary and community sector have worked together and met online regularly with 
the Director of Public Health to coordinate their efforts to support our residents and 
the relationships formed throughout the pandemic period have accelerated the 
plans to increase coordination and joint working.

By 2024, we will:

P
age 36



Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update 15

Communities: 
Increasing Resilience

Develop a placed-
based approach 
to service delivery 
in community 
settings in 
partnership 
with public and 
voluntary sector 
organisations

UPDATE:

As part of the wider Blackpool Pride of Place partnership and working with Business in the 
Community and other local agencies, we are piloting an intensive neighbourhood approach 
in Claremont. The Claremont Project seeks to better co-ordinate public service support 
for the local community, while also ensuring that lessons learned are rolled out more 
widely. Over the last three years we have developed a strong team of residents, public 
service agencies, business leaders, civil society organisations, young people and council 
representatives meeting regularly to tackle the challenges that the area faces. Work has 
focused on practical combination of local services – such as community drop in advice 
evenings running alongside school parents evening. We are also determined to help the 
community by supporting vibrant, organic community organisations such as the ‘Magic 
Club’, which gives local children and young people more support and opportunities.

By 2024, we will:

UPDATE:

National government funded Blackpool as one of five pilot areas reviewing the supported 
housing market, with an emphasis on demand, quality of support, and value for 
money. The pilots are intended to improve supported housing at a local level, while 
also providing evidence on what works to guide future policy and regulation. We have 
now developed new local standards and pathways to ensure that tenants and support 
providers have much greater clarity over the standards expected, and the council have 
submitted evidence to the newly formed select committee. There is a high volume of 
poor quality private rented sector homes in Blackpool and we know that not all of the 
provision supports tenants with the right stability of tenancy and quality and safety of 
accommodation. We continue to lobby nationally for better standards and regulation of 
the private rented sector.

Stabilise our 
communities 
through 
additional activity 
to regulate 
private sector 
housing, reducing 
supply and 
improving quality

P
age 37



16 Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update

UPDATE:

My Blackpool Home has grown from zero to over 500 quality affordable homes adding a 
further 59 homes in 2020/21, despite the pandemic, following an increase of 123 homes 
in 2019/20. We have also sought and been granted approval by the regulator for a new 
subsidiary registered provider: Lumen Housing. Lumen Housing has brought forward 16 
homes to date, with plans to grow to 80 homes over three years.

In addition to innovative interventions in the local housing market, we continue to set the 
local standard for good council homes – with Blackpool Coastal Housing (BCH) providing 
nearly 4,700 good quality affordable council homes for rent. We have started to build new 
council housing at scale again, at Troutbeck, and have now started on site for 131 new 
homes at Grange Park. 

During the pandemic BCH was in contact with more than 2,000 vulnerable customers, 
distributed food parcels at the height of the lockdown and supported vaccination hubs 
with volunteers, while still maintaining core services to the high level we routinely expect.

Blackpool Coastal Housing use the national Housing Associations Charitable Trust (HACT) 
model to measure the social value and impact our services and activities have on our 
customers and local communities. Social Value measures the non-financial impact and 
benefits, such as an increase in confidence, improved health and wellbeing and social 
inclusion. In 2020/21 Blackpool Coastal Housing delivered over £1.3m in added social value.

By 2024, we will:

Improving Housing

Deliver hundreds 
more affordable 
new homes across 
the town

P
age 38



Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update 17

The Grange Park development will provide 131 new homes for 
affordable rent, comprised of 2 to 6 bed houses, bungalows and 
new one bed sheltered housing. We reached a number of key 
milestones recently, with planning permission granted, Homes 
England funding secured, and a developer appointed. Work started 
on site with enabling works in October 2021 and groundworks 
in November. Work will be undertaken in two phases, with 78 
units in Phase 1 and a further 53 in Phase 2, with full completion 
expected in 2024. With the support of the European Social Fund, 
and council investment, these new homes will have a number or 
energy saving measures and technologies, including 30 air source 
heat pumps, in order to reduce the carbon footprint.

Improve the 
look, feel and 
environments  
of our inner  
ward areas

UPDATE:

Working with our wholly owned waste company, ENVECO, we have committed additional 
funding into the Neighbourhood Environment Action Team (NEAT).  This will ensure a 
greater focus on fly tipping and environmental crime and also increased engagement with 
local people in helping them to manage their waste better.  ENVECO will link and work 
with Public Protection where more resource is being provided to address environmental 
protection, anti-social behaviour and poor quality housing issues in these areas.

P
age 39



18 Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update

Enable further 
housing delivery 
through  
pro-active 
assistance to 
developers, 
including use 
of CPO powers 
where necessary

UPDATE:

In spite of the pandemic, the council continues to move forward on important housing 
projects, designed to meet the needs of the residents of the town. Examples from the 
past six months include approval for 51 properties in Bispham and the release of the 
former Mountford Centre site for housing. Blackpool is a densely urban town and we 
need to be creative in developing new homes. Four fifths of the town’s urban area is 
developed and the remaining undeveloped land is largely protected open space providing 
important local recreation. Balancing the need for more good homes in the town with the 
needs of existing local communities is never easy, but we will never shirk that challenge.

Improving Housing

By 2024, we will:

As part of the pandemic response, since March 2020 we have provided over 700 households 
with emergency accommodation. At its peak we supported 193 households in temporary 
accommodation, this figure is now below 70 and changes daily, but the current trend is 
downward, representing an enormous effort from the Council and partners. Partners from 
all sectors stood together to provide additional services to those displaced, including food, 
clothing and support. During the period of the pandemic over 400 households have moved 
forward into their own tenancy, supported housing, or returned to their family home.

The strong multi-agency approach developed during COVID continues, with key services 
co-located within housing. This means households with complex needs receive support with 
physical and mental health, substance misuse, and wider housing support in one place.

Over the past year, we have been able to add new supported housing provision for 
young adults. The Positive Transitions Pathway (PTP) provides tailored, intensive tenancy 
management and life coaching for young people leaving care to help them become 
successful tenants and positive contributors to the community and has been recognised 
as a national exemplar for delivering housing services to care leavers. The service has 
recently been enhanced through the opening of William Lyons House (WLH), which 
provides more intensive support and accommodation for those young people who would 
struggle living on their own without help.

Blackpool council has long been recognised as a trailblazer for its approach to local housing 
- and together with our COVID response to homelessness - our achievement was recognised 
in the UK Housing Awards with Blackpool judged to be ‘council of the year’ in 2021.

P
age 40



Climate emergency

P
age 41



20 Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update

Along with over 300 other Councils, Blackpool has declared a Climate Emergency. This commits us to lead and support local 
institutions, businesses and people in reducing their carbon footprint. The goal is to be “net zero” by 2030, meaning that any 
carbon emissions must be balanced by measures that absorb an equivalent amount of carbon gases. 

We will continue to put local people at the centre of our plans, not least through the work 
of the Blackpool Youth Climate Group and the Blackpool Climate Action Partnership, and 
working with Lancashire Councils on a devolution deal which does justice to our beautiful 
natural environment. As recommended by our residents’ Climate Assembly, we will seek 
to achieve net zero in a fair way, advocating for extra support for Blackpool to ensure, 
nationally, that those best able to do so provide the most support for this transition.

Our Climate Action Plan describes how we will work towards this goal as a Council and 
borough. Using a “Climate First” approach, we will take into account the impact of our 
actions on the climate and our natural environment at the very start of planning our 
services and projects, looking to minimise and remove any negative effects. The Climate 
Action Partnership will co-ordinate our efforts across the public and private sectors, 
delivering actions across ten themes:

• • Housing
• • Buildings and the Built Environment
• • Transport, Getting Around and Digital
• • Power and Heat
• • Cleansing, Food, Water and Waste
• • Community Leadership, Communication and Involvement
• • Working With Others
• • Business
• • Natural Environment
• • Building Knowledge, Capacity and Financial Resources 

We will use a mix of innovative projects, practical interventions, awareness raising and 
enabling activity to achieve our goal of net zero. Actions already taken include switching 
to 100% renewable electricity, hosting a Climate Assembly, switching our street lighting 
to LED, and taking part in a government trial of a new Leyland electric truck to service 
the Illuminations. We are building net zero into our decision-making processes through 
Impact Assessments and the development of carbon calculating tools and measures. With 
the cost of net zero estimated at well over £1 billion, we will need sustained government 
support to achieve our goal. However, the principles outlined in the Medium Term 
Financial Sustainability Strategy allow us to seek funding from both public and private 
sources to deliver projects which give the biggest carbon reductions.

Climate emergency: 
Addressing the Climate Emergency

P
age 42



Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update 21

P
age 43



The Economy

P
age 44



Place headings here

Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update 23

Our plans for the local economy build on the town’s preeminent position amongst UK seaside resorts, while also seeking 
to diversify into new areas. The concrete achievements of our £1bn+ Growth and Prosperity programme over the last three 
years have laid a solid foundation on which we can build further in the next four years.

In October 2020, Blackpool was one of the first 7 UK towns 
to obtain a 'Town Deal' with the Government and received 
£39.5m, the highest amount received by any town in the 
country. In consultation with local people, businesses and 
visitors, we pulled together a list of 7 projects which the 
Council will take forward over the next five years: Blackpool 
Central Courts relocation, the Multiversity site assembly, a 
new road to open up development sites on the Blackpool 
Airport Enterprise Zone, the Southern Quarter/Revoe 
Community Sports Village; the Edge - modern office space 
for new start-ups and growing local businesses in the centre 
of town; upgrading Blackpool Illuminations; and the Youth 
Hub to support young people into training and work.

Over the next five years we will begin to deliver a new 
world-class Leisure Quarter at Blackpool Central – as well 
as opening our new conference centre to re-capture a 
larger slice of this burgeoning market; and opening a new 
museum. All this will bring extra visitors, who will be able 
to get around the resort more easily thanks to investment in 
our transport infrastructure, and stay in a much expanded 
selection of high quality hotels. And crucially, all of these 
new developments will create new jobs for local people.

The Enterprise Zone continues to develop and safeguard 
skilled jobs, with the benefits of skilled work being more 
widely shared around the borough as phase 2 of the Talbot 
Gateway moves towards completion – connecting up the 
town’s key transport infrastructure and helping to diversify 
the local economy and widen the jobs available 
for people who live in the town.

We know that the town and its economy has been 
seriously affected by the pandemic and that many of those 
in the town need support in gaining confidence to enter 
or re-enter the workplace. We will continue to deliver 
tailored programmes to deal with the complex factors 
suppressing people’s ability to achieve. In particular, we 
will focus on young adults whose entry into the world of 
work has been especially disadvantaged by the pandemic.

Blackpool’s digital vision underpins the Council plan 
by supporting resilient communities, climate change 
and sustainable economic growth.  Blackpool is at the 
centre of the North Atlantic ultra-high-speed data cable, 
connecting New York, the U.K. and Northern Europe 
and the investment in local and international fibre optic 

infrastructure is supporting business growth and providing 
our community with some of the best connectivity in the 
country. We will use our connectivity advantage to build 
and strengthen Blackpool’s Digital economy, develop new 
opportunities and support future jobs.

The Economy: 
Maximise Growth and Opportunity Across Blackpool

P
age 45



24 Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update

The Economy: 
Visitor Experience – Tourism and culture

By 2024, we will:

Complete 
development of a 
new 21st century 
conference 
offer at the 
Winter Gardens, 
and increase 
numbers of new 
conferences

Finalise design 
and funding, 
then deliver 
the Blackpool 
Museum project

UPDATE: 

The £28 million, state of the art conference centre opened in early 2022. 
The centre seamlessly integrates with the famous Winter Gardens complex, 
creating a hub of 12 distinct venues offering almost five acres of connected 
conference, meeting, event and exhibition space, with the capacity to 
accommodate up to 7,000 delegates. The new Conference Centre will be 
the catalyst for the development of 3, 4 and 5 star hotels in the town.

UPDATE: 

Showtown will be Blackpool’s new museum of fun and entertainment in which we 
celebrate the greatest show town on earth by engaging local residents and visitors 
through fun, laughter and stories, sharing what makes Blackpool special. This c.£14m 
project is currently in construction and we are on site now working hard to make it 
happen. Opening in time for Easter 2023, Showtown puts Blackpool centre-stage and 
reveals its lasting influence on the nation’s sense of fun and entertainment. Showtown 
will be filled with displays, films and fun activities for all the family to enjoy, telling 
personal stories and highlighting how Blackpool has touched the lives of millions 
of people. Presenting 800+ objects from Blackpool’s internationally significant and 
extensive collections both physically and digitally alongside loans from the V&A 
Museum and private owners.

P
age 46



Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update 25

The Economy: 
Visitor Experience – Tourism and Culture

Implement a new 
model of funding 
and delivery 
to sustain the 
Illuminations, 
events 
programme and 
cultural services

Deliver the first 
phase of a £300m 
investment into 
Blackpool Central, 
to include world 
class visitor 
attractions, 
including the UK's 
first flying theatre

By 2024, we will:

UPDATE:

The Illuminations has been successful in securing £4.5M from the Town Deal for 
infrastructure development, new technologies and commissioning national and 
international artists to contribute to the continued evolution of the illuminations offer. 
A new Tourism Business Improvement District has been formed designed to provide 
more co-ordination in promoting the cultural and events offer to local communities 
and visitors and provide resource for new events and festivals, including Light Pool. 
In a further enhancement to the tourism offer, Merlin are bringing exciting new 
developments to the town including a new Peter Rabbit themed explore and play 
attraction, which is set to add to the growth in confidence we are seeing from the 
private sector who are bringing  investment to our visitor economy.

UPDATE: 

The planning application for the initial phases of the project has been approved, 
including a new 1,306 multi storey car park and creation of the Heritage Quarter. 
Outline plans have also been approved for the rest of the site, including a major 
public events square, three indoor entertainment centres, a hotel, restaurants and 
other new hospitality and leisure spaces. 90% of the 700 people who responded to 
the public consultation expressed their support for the plans. Construction of the 
multi-storey car park and Heritage Quarter is expected to begin in 2022 and take 
around two years to complete. 

P
age 47



26 Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update

Complete the 
tram extension, 
transport 
interchange and 
new 4* hotel at 
Blackpool North 
station

Implement 
the Blackpool 
Enterprise Zone 
Delivery Plan, 
facilitating the 
growth of energy, 
aviation and food 
sectors

The Economy: 
Infrastructure and Regeneration

UPDATE:

Progress on the £35m Talbot Gateway Phase 2 continues apace, with the delivery of the 
second phase due to complete in 2022. This phase will witness the opening of our new 
tram extension, connecting our world famous tramway with Blackpool North rail station 
to make the town centre one of the most sustainable locations for new investment 
and jobs. Construction is now well underway for a new Holiday Inn next to the tram 
interchange, adding 144 additional quality hotel rooms to the centre of town.

UPDATE: 

The Enterprise Zone has attracted over 1,600 jobs to date. Eight developments have 
been completed since the Zone went live, with another due to be completed in January 
2022. Future schemes include a substantial remodelling of the airport to give it a 
sustainable future, and a solar farm development that could contribute up to 50% of 
the council’s energy needs.

By 2024, we will:

P
age 48



Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update 27

Deliver 
extensions to the 
Central Business 
District at Talbot 
Gateway

Further invest 
in highways, 
including 
completing the 
Quality Corridor 
programme, 
Yeadon Way 
upgrade and 
bridge renewal 
programme.

The Economy: 
Infrastructure and Regeneration

UPDATE: 

The Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) have agreed a 25 year lease with Blackpool 
Council and partner Muse Developments to develop a new regional hub at Talbot 
Gateway. Work on the site will commence in 2022, over 3,000 DWP staff will move into 
the Blackpool Hub and Centre for Health and Disability Centre (CHDA) in autumn 2024 in a 
new £100m office development in Blackpool town centre.

UPDATE:

The Quality Corridor programme has invested £7.84m in giving some of Blackpool’s 
key roads a facelift making streets more welcoming and shops more vibrant. Yeadon 
Way strengthening and improvement work costing £3.3m was completed in May 2020, 
maintaining this vital link from the M55 to the heart of Blackpool.

During the early part of the plan, the council purchased Houndshill Shopping Centre & 
Abingdon Street Market to bring forward major extension and regeneration schemes.  
We have big plans for Houndshill Shopping Centre, with a new IMAX style cinema and 
2 new restaurants due to be completed by the end of December 2022 – designed to 
diversify the town’s offer to residents and visitors. The rejuvenation of Abingdon Street 
Market is ongoing, due to be completed in mid 2022.

By 2024, we will:

P
age 49



28 Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update

The Economy: 
Enterprise, Skills and Economic Inclusion

Get hundreds 
of people back 
into work via 
job schemes 
for the most 
vulnerable and 
disadvantaged, 
including 
HealthWorks and 
More Positive 
Together

Work with 
partners to deliver 
the Opportunity 
Area programme, 
raising attainment 
and aspirations of 
our young people

UPDATE:

Since 2018 nearly 600 people have been supported into work. More Positive Together 
has helped secure jobs for 250 people this year (170 of whom were unemployed 
and 80 were economically inactive), while also helping a further 200 people into 
education and training as a bridge into jobs.

The Chefs Academy, which was launched in October 2021, is a good example of 
engaging with young people interested in a career in hospitality and catering. 
The programme gives young people the skills to either gain employment or progress 
into further education, while also providing a much needed skilled workforce for 
the local hospitality industry.

UPDATE: 

Support workers in schools have worked with over 300 young people since 2019, 
supporting improved attendance and behaviour. In addition, 167 young people have 
engaged with the ‘Targeted NEET’ (Support) project and been provided with support 
to develop employability skills, with 33 participating in work experience or internships 
and 39 progressing into jobs, far surpassing expected figures. The approach used by 
the project has now been adapted by Positive Steps to work with an older age group 
of 16 to 24 year olds. 

By 2024, we will:

P
age 50



Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update 29

The Economy: 
Enterprise, Skills and Economic Inclusion

Support local 
businesses to 
grow and expand 
by maximising 
take-up of the 
Business Loans 
Fund

UPDATE: 

In early 2019, the Council extended the Business Loans Fund scheme by a further 
£100million, bringing the total fund to £200million. By the end of September 2021 the 
fund had committed £134m, created 650 jobs and safeguarded further 1,100 jobs.  
It has supported investments in hotels, the hospitality business, leisure, manufacturing 
and marketing amongst other sectors.

Economic inclusion remains one of the biggest challenges facing the town & the council. 
COVID has had a severe impact and we have moved decisively to support the young 
people of the town – who have been disproportionately affected by the pandemic. The 
national Kickstart programme and Blackpool’s Youth Hub both seek to directly address 
this critical issue. The Youth Hub will be a dedicated base for young people with an 
advisory team working in partnership with co-located Department for Work & Pensions 
Work Coaches, local employment and skills providers and employers to connect young 
people with opportunities for work and learning. Young people’s wellbeing, confidence 
and skills level will all be addressed to help them actively pursue work and paths into 
learning to help improve their job prospects.

By 2024, we will: By 2024, we will:

P
age 51



30 Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update

Addressing inequalities and promoting equality 
through our values

Everyone at the council is expected to share the following common values:

• • Accountability: We take responsibility for 
delivering on the promises we make, and 
can be challenged if we fall short.

• • Compassion: We’ll be caring and understanding 
and try to help. We’ll also always consider both 
individual and wider community needs.

• • Quality: We take pride in our services, and will 
always seek to deliver the best service possible. 

• • Trustworthiness: We will be honest with you 
about what we can and can’t do and the decisions 
we make. We will only make promises that 
we can keep, and we will make sure that your 
information is kept confidential and securely.

• • Fairness: Everyone will receive a service appropriate 
to their circumstances, which treats them with respect.

Our approach to equalities is closely linked to our values. 
Our equality objectives are as follows:

1. We will deliver services that are fair – with more 
people telling the council that they experience fair 
treatment by council services.

2. We will ensure that our staff are more representative 
of the community the council serves and equality and 
diversity is embedded in our culture.

3. We will involve people from diverse backgrounds in 
decision making at every level.

4. We will celebrate the growing diversity in Blackpool 
and increase respect and understanding for all.

5. We will work with partners to help reduce 
economic inequality.

6. We will work with partners to help reduce 
health inequality.

All new council plans and strategies are reviewed to 
ensure they’re tailored to the needs of groups with 
protected characteristics. The next formal review of the 
Council’s Equality objectives will begin later in 2022.

P
age 52



Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update 31

To deliver on our ambitions the council needs to be efficient and resilient – able to withstand short term and even long-term 
pressures, as well as ongoing reductions in the funding we have available. The COVID pandemic has ably demonstrated the council’s 
resilience over the past 2 years. Most of our resilience comes from the planned approach to managing reductions to our funding.

The council had to make a total of over 
£996m of savings between 2010 and 2021, 
through a combination of technical savings, 
policy changes, service transformations 
and reductions, moving more of our 
services online, generating more income, 
encouraging voluntary activity and social 
action, and seeking to reduce demand on 
our services in favour of preventative and 
alternative delivery approaches.

We’ve also adopted new innovative 
approaches to increase our reach and 
influence to better enable the council 
to achieve its strategic aims. Examples 
of this include our wholly-owned 
companies, bidding for funding, working 
in partnership, and making savings whilst 
transforming our services.

In the past decade, the council has bought 
or retained ownership of companies where 
it is in the town’s best interests for us to 
do so. Companies have greater flexibility 
than the council in how they operate and 
in their ability to earn income. We can 
also support companies through loans 
and preferential rates that benefit both 
organisations. This approach has led to 
unparalleled investment, expansion and 
development of services and the building 
of new homes in the town, in addition 
to enhancing our ability to influence 
economic development. We will continue 
to work in partnership with our companies, 
helping them to seek and deliver new 
opportunities for the wider benefit of the 
town and its people. 

A platform to deliver: ensuring a resilient organisation

P
age 53



32 Council Plan 2019–2024 | Progress Update

How we’ll deliver on our commitments

To monitor how well we are delivering the plan, we have a performance management framework, which enables us 
to understand how we’re doing, to identify areas of under-performance, and to move resources around as needed. 
It ensures that we are accountable for how well we’re doing.

Council performance indicators are monitored and 
scrutinised quarterly, with an annual report analysing 
performance against targets and against the performance 
of similar authorities.

We have reformed the performance monitoring of our 
companies through a new Shareholder Committee. As 
well as regularly reviewing the overall performance of our 
companies, the Committee ensures that our companies 
contribute fully to the council’s strategic objectives and to 
the wider vision for the town.

Within the council, directorate and departmental  
business plans set out the actions described in this plan 
in more detail. These plans are monitored by councillors 
and officers, and considered as part of reports to the  
overview and scrutiny committee.

P
age 54



P
age 55



To ensure our services are accessible to all, documents prepared by Blackpool Council are available in large print, Braille, on audio-cassette or computer disk upon request. 
We can also provide help for British Sign Language users and provide information in other languages. Please ask for details or telephone 477117.

C1316   2-22

P
age 56



Report to: EXECUTIVE 

Relevant Officer: Steve Thompson, Director of Resources 

Relevant Cabinet Member: Councillor Lynn Williams, Leader of the Council 

Date of Meeting: 24 February 2022 

 
COUNCIL TAX 2022/23 
 

1.0 
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1 To consider and recommend to the Council proposals for Blackpool Council’s level of 
Council Tax for 2022/23 and the General Fund Revenue Budget 2022/23. 
 

2.0 Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1 
 

To consider all information received since the meeting of the Executive on 7 February 
2022 including the Final Settlement Funding Assessment announced on 7 February 
2022 and to determine whether or not to confirm the Executive’s recommendation 
to Council regarding the General Fund Revenue Budget 2022/23. 
 

2.2 
 

To recommend to Council approval of a level of Blackpool Council’s Council Tax for 
the year 2022/23 of £1,749.92 at valuation band D equivalent (an increase of 2.99% 
including the 1% Adult Social Care Precept).  
 

2.3 
 
 
2.4 

To recommend to Council the level of net expenditure for the General Fund Revenue 
Budget 2022/23 of £160,276,000. 
 
To note that the Police and Crime Commissioner for Lancashire’s precept for the 
financial year 2022/23 of £236.45 at valuation band D equivalent (an increase of 
4.42%) has been agreed. 
 

2.5 
 

To note that the Lancashire Combined Fire Authority will meet on 21 February 2022 
to set its precept for the financial year 2022/23. This will be reported verbally at this 
meeting. 

  
3.0 
 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 
 

The Executive is required to consider the outcome of consultation meetings and surveys 
before finalising its Budget proposals. 
 
 

Page 57

Agenda Item 4



The setting of the General Fund Revenue Budget and the level of Council Tax is consistent 
with the principles approved by the Executive at its meeting on 7 February 2022. 
 

3.2 Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 
approved by the Council? 
 

NO 

3.3 Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 
budget? 
 

Not applicable – 
the report once 
approved will 
become the 
Council’s new 
approved 
Budget 
 

4.0 
 

Other alternative options to be considered: 
 
Although one of the ten guiding principles of the Council’s Medium-Term Financial 
Sustainability Strategy 2021/22 – 2026/27 is “keeping local taxes and charges as low as 
practicable”, Government funding compared to increasing service demands and 
inflationary pressures on the Council’s Budget in 2022/23, prevent a Council Tax level any 
lower than the capped level being prudent or practicable. 
 
The Council Tax level recommended balances all ten principles with the need to fund and 
maintain core services. Although the level of Council Tax at valuation band D that is 
recommended is £1,749.92, the profile of hereditaments in Blackpool with bands A and B 
comprising 74% of the total means that the average Council Tax payable per dwelling in 
2022/23 is estimated at £926 or £1,092 gross of precepts. 
 

5.0 Council Priority: 
 

5.1 The report covers both of the Council priorities:                                         

 “The economy: Maximising growth and opportunity across Blackpool” 

 “Communities: Creating stronger communities and increasing resilience” 
 

6.0 Background Information 
 

6.1 
 
 

At its meeting on 7 February 2022, the Executive considered a report of the Director 
of Resources that recommended to Council approval of a net expenditure for the 
General Fund Revenue Budget of £160,276,000 that would result in a level of Council 
Tax for the year 2022/23 of £1,749.92 at valuation band D equivalent. This is an 
increase of 2.99% including the 1% Adult Social Care Precept. 
 
 
 

Page 58



 
6.2 
 

The Final Settlement of Blackpool Council’s 2022/23 Settlement Funding Assessment 
was announced by the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities on 7 
February 2022. There were no changes to the Provisional Settlement Funding 
Assessment of £63,885,000 for 2022/23. 
 

6.3 
 

As part of the final Local Government Finance Settlement, the threshold for 
‘excessive’ Council Tax increases for 2022/23 was confirmed at 3%, an increase of 3% 
or more requiring a local referendum to be held. This 3% threshold includes the 
additional 1% allowed for expenditure on Adult Social Care and 2% for other 
expenditure. The level of Council Tax recommended in this report will not invoke this 
requirement. 
 

6.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.5 

In line with last year’s engagement the Council has undertaken two exercises to seek 
initial comments and ideas on the Budget, prior to more formal consultation on any 
proposals leading to significant service impacts or changes. The first was aimed at 
individual residents and staff, which received 117 responses, whilst the second was 
aimed at stakeholder organisations and received 11 responses. The surveys were 
available online and as paper copies at front facing Council buildings and were widely 
publicised via the Council’s social media channels.  The survey included questions 
which asked for opinions about Council priorities and services at a broad level, but 
also sought comments on ways in which the Council could save or generate money. 
In line with the previous year, views were sought on the importance of the Climate 
Emergency on the Council’s budget-setting process.  Consultation with the Trade 
Unions with regards to staffing issues has been embedded into normal working 
practices and has also met all formal consultation requirements.  The Scrutiny 
Leadership Board considered the key budget pressures and savings required at its 
informal meeting on 19 January 2022. 
 
The Police and Crime Commissioner for Lancashire’s precept for the financial year 
2022/23 of £236.45 at valuation band D equivalent (an increase of 4.42%) has been 
agreed. 

 
6.6 
 
 

 
The Lancashire Combined Fire Authority will meet on 21 February 2022 to set its 
precept for the financial year 2022/23. This will be reported verbally at this meeting. 

6.7 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 
 

No 

7.0 List of Appendices: 
 

 

7.1 None.  
 
 
 

Page 59



8.0 Financial considerations: 
 

8.1 
 

As outlined in this report. 
 

9.0 Legal considerations: 
 

9.1 
 
 
 
9.2 

There is a duty for major precepting authorities to issue a precept for 2022/23 before 
1 March 2022. For other local authorities including Blackpool Council there is a duty 
to set 2022/23 budgets before 11 March 2022. 
 
Section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 makes it a criminal offence for 
a Councillor in Council Tax arrears (with at least two months unpaid bills) to vote at a 
meeting of the Council, a Committee or of the Council’s Executive where financial 
matters relating to Council Tax are being considered. It is also an offence if any such 
Councillor present, who is aware of the arrears, fails to disclose that they are in 
arrears of Council Tax. 
 

10.0 Risk management considerations: 
 

10.1 A Risk Analysis was produced for the General Fund Revenue Budget 2022/23 report to 
the Executive on 7 February 2022 - this remains applicable. 
 

11.0 Equalities considerations: 
 

11.1 
 

Equalities considerations were outlined in the General Fund Revenue Budget 
2022/23 report. 
 

12.0 Sustainability, climate change and environmental considerations: 
 

12.1 
 
 

None directly although the setting of a balanced budget underpins the Council’s 
sustainability agenda.  

13.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 
 

13.1 
 

Consultation with the trade unions with regards to staffing issues has been 
embedded into normal working practices and has also met all formal consultation 
requirements.  
 

13.2 
 
 
13.3 
 

Consultation with business ratepayers was undertaken at the Blackpool Business 
Leaders Group meeting on 28 January 2022. 
 
Once specific proposals were published in January 2022, consultations with all 
affected stakeholders - amongst them staff, service users and communities of 
interest/equality groups – have begun to take place. 

Page 60



  
  

 
14.0       Background papers 

 
14.1 
 

Budget working papers and above consultation minutes and feedback. 
 

15.0 Key decision information: 
 

15.1 Is this a key decision? 
 

Yes 

15.2 If so, Forward Plan reference number: 
 

27/2021 

15.3 If a key decision, is the decision required in less than five days? 
 

No 

15.4 If yes, please describe the reason for urgency: 
 
 
 

16.0 Call-in information: 
 

16.1 Are there any grounds for urgency, which would cause this decision to 
be exempt from the call-in process?  
 

 
No 

16.2 If yes, please give reason: 
 

TO BE COMPLETED BY THE HEAD OF DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE 
 

17.0 Scrutiny Committee Chairman (where appropriate): 
 

 Date informed: 16 February 2022 Date approved: 
 

 

 
18.0 Declarations of interest (if applicable): 

 
18.1  

 
19.0 Executive decision: 

 
19.1   

 
 
 
 

Page 61



20.0 
 
20.1  
 
 

Date of Decision:   
 
 

21.0 
 
21.1 

Reason(s) for decision: 
 
 
 

22.0 
 
22.1 
 

Date Decision published: 
 
 

23.0 
 
23.1  
 

Executive Members present:   
 
 

24.0 
 
24.1  

Call-in:   
 
 
 

25.0 Notes:   
 

25.1  
 

Page 62



 

Report to : EXECUTIVE 

Relevant Officers: Mark Towers, Director of Governance 

Alan Cavill, Director of Communications and Regeneration  

Relevant Cabinet Member  Councillor Lynn Williams, Leader of the Council 

Date of Meeting: 24 February 2022 

 

BLACKPOOL HERITAGE AND MUSEUM TRUST 
 

1.0  
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1  
 

To consider setting up a charitable company to run the museum, known as ‘Showtown’ and 
to take over the operation of the Blackpool Heritage Service in due course. 
 

2.0  Recommendation: 
 

2.1  To authorise the Director of Governance and Partnerships to set up a new charitable 
company entitled the Blackpool Heritage and Museum Trust, on the basis set out in para 6.4. 

2.2  To authorise the Director of Communications and Regeneration to formulate an 
Implementation Agreement to protect the Council’s interests in its involvement with the new 
charitable company and agree this with the charitable company. 
 

2.3  To authorise the Director of Communications and Regeneration to make the necessary 
arrangements to sub-let the lease for the space within the Sands Building to the new 
charitable company. 
 

2.4  To authorise the Director of Communications and Regeneration to negotiate a contract with 
the new charitable company for the provision of a Heritage Service to the Council. 
 

2.5  To authorise the Director of Communications and Regeneration make the necessary 
arrangements to TUPE transfer the staff referred to in paragraph 10.1 to the new charitable 
company, at some point prior to the opening of the Museum in April 2023. 
 

3.0  Reasons for recommendation(s): 
 

3.1  
 

Now that an opening date has been set for the Museum in April 2023, arrangements need to 
be put in place for a charitable company to run the museum and take over the operation of 
the pre-existing Blackpool Heritage Service. The Council has invested significantly in the 
Showtown project and holds the main lease and an Implementation Agreement is 

Page 63

Agenda Item 5



recommended to safeguard the Council’s interests. This agreement will not impinge on the 
independence of the charitable company but will mean the Council would need to be 
involved in any significant decisions. 
 

3.2  Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or approved by the 
Council? 
 

No 

3.3  Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved budget? 
 

Yes 

4.0  Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

4.1  As part of the development phase of the museum project specialist expert advice was 
commissioned to consider the most appropriate governance structure which would provide 
the best chance for the organisation to operate effectively and be sustainable in the long 
term. A company limited by guarantee, which is also a registered charity, was identified as 
the preferred option.  
 

4.2  It is now incumbent on the Council as the lead organisation to initiate the setting up of the 
charitable company. Not having such a body in place would place the long term viability of 
the museum project in jeopardy, which would mean that National Lottery Heritage Fund 
(NLHF) funding, and other funding secured, would not be forthcoming. Legal advice has been 
received that it is good practice to also have an Implementation Agreement in place to 
safeguard the Council’s interests due to its investment. 
 

5.0  Council priority: 
 

5.1  The relevant Council priority is: “The economy: Maximising growth and opportunity across 
Blackpool”. 
 

6.0  Background information 
 

6.1  Showtown is Blackpool’s new museum of fun and entertainment, now in the construction 
phase, and designed to celebrate the greatest show town on Earth. Engaging local residents 
and visitors through fun, laughter, stories sharing what makes Blackpool special. The opening 
date is scheduled to be April 2023.  
 

6.2  This is a c.£13m project. The project has received £4m from the Northern Cultural 
Regeneration Fund, plus £1.5m from the Lancashire Growth Deal and £1.75m from Coastal 
Communities Fund. In addition it has received £400,000 development funding from the 
National Lottery Heritage Fund (NLHF) and, in July 2019, there was a further £4m from NLHF 
awarded for the delivery phase. This completed the statutory funding target set. Blackpool 
Council is committing £600,000 to fund the associated costs, having already invested 
significantly in the project to date. Additional funding has also been secured from a number 
of trusts and foundations. 

Page 64



 
6.3  A 30 year lease was agreed by way of a Cabinet Member decision in July 2021 for the Council 

to lease the space in the Sands Hotel from the owners Coolsilk Property and Investment 
Limited. It is proposed that this be sub-let by the Council to the new charitable company with 
the terms of the lease to be dealt with as part of the wider commercial negotiations with the 
Charity. 
 

6.4  A new organisation is needed to meet the requirements of the business plan and 
consequently the funding received and a charitable company is the one considered most 
suitable to be incorporated. It is recommended that there be up to ten Directors/Trustees, 
with three of these directly appointed by the Council based on a proportional balance of two 
Labour and one Conservative councillors with the relevant skills and experience to be 
appointed to such a role.  
 

6.5  It is recommended that the charitable objects of the company are to promote the education 
of the public in relation to the history of Blackpool principally, but not exclusively, by: 

 
 the operation, maintenance and preservation of a museum in Blackpool known as 

‘Showtown: the museum of fun and entertainment’; 
 

 the operation, maintenance and preservation of heritage transportation; and 
 

 the delivery of associated facilities and engagement programmes, fostering knowledge, 
understanding, appreciation and enjoyment of the history and heritage of Blackpool and 
the maintenance and preservation of the Blackpool heritage collections. 

 
6.6  Prior to the pandemic, the Council led an open recruitment process for a Chair for the new 

charitable company. As a result of that exercise Spencer Phillips was identified as being the 
Chair-Elect for the new company and a proposed subscriber to the Articles and Founding 
Director. Spencer has worked with the Project Board in the intervening period on the delivery 
phase.  
 

6.7  There is already in existence a Charity chaired by Lawrence Llewellyn Bowen to lead on the 
fundraising and it is proposed that the Vice Chair of that company Nigel Patterson be a 
subscriber and second founding Director. (Once the new charity is in operation, then the 
work of the fundraising charity will be subsumed into it). Three subscribers are required and 
it is recommended that the third be one of the Council appointed Directors/Trustees.  
 

6.8  It is proposed that the Director of Governance and Partnerships prepare a set of Articles of 
Association and incorporate the company limited by guarantee with companies house, 
setting out its charitable objects and then prepare the submission to the Charities 
Commission. 
 

6.9  It is appropriate for the charitable company to be set up now as there are some decisions the 

Page 65



company needs to make within the next few months in the lead up to the opening in April 
2023. There is the sub-lease referred to above, there is the recruitment of a chief executive 
officer to lead the charitable company and the recruitment of other officers and Trustees 
during the course of the year.  
 

6.10  The Blackpool Heritage Service was created in 2006. It operates a range of heritage related 
activities which includes the care and development of Blackpool Council’s unique and 
internationally-significant historic collections. The History Centre (based in Central Library) 
provides a support service for members of the public, researchers and academics to gain 
access to Blackpool’s history and its collections. Whilst the community heritage programme 
delivers a range of heritage volunteering opportunities, including training and development 
activities, the heritage newsletter and other engagement activity, the Heritage Guiding 
programme and coordination of the annual Heritage Open Days programme.  
 

6.11  It is proposed that the Blackpool Heritage and Museum Trust will also take over the 
operation of the Heritage Service, as well as Showtown, thus creating a single heritage-based 
charitable company operating two publically accessible facilities – Showtown and the History 
Centre – and the managing the Council’s heritage collections. 
 

6.12  It should be noted that the ownership of the heritage collections will not transfer to the 
Trust. This will remain with Blackpool Council, thus safeguarding these important community 
assets for the future. 
 

6.13  Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 
 

No 
 

7.0  List of Appendices: 
 

7.1  None. 
 

8.0  Financial considerations: 
 

8.1  An updated report will be provided to members outlining financial considerations following 
the completion of negotiations with the charity.  
   

9.0  Legal considerations: 
 

9.1  As set out and referenced within the report. 
 

10.0  Staffing considerations: 
 

10.1  There are ten full time members of staff within the Showtown Project Team and 4.4 full time 
equivalent members of staff within the Heritage Service Team. It is proposed that up to 13 
full time equivalent members of this staffing complement will be transferred into the 
Blackpool Heritage and Museum Trust by TUPE transfer.  

Page 66



 
10.2  These roles encompass a range of essential tasks including administration and financial 

management, marketing, fundraising, community engagement, learning, collections care, 
development and management, research, historical interpretation and display and 
exhibitions. All are vital for the delivery of Showtown project and the long term sustainability 
of the Blackpool Heritage and Museum Trust. 
 

10.3  Authorisation is sought for the Director of Communications and Regeneration make the 
necessary arrangements for the TUPE transfer these staff on the same terms and conditions 
to the new charitable company, at the most appropriate time prior to the opening of the 
Museum in April 2023. This will be enacted in line with all the necessary legal and human 
resources requirements. Any resultant financial consequences will be set out in the further 
report referenced at 8.1 above.  
 

11.0  Risk management considerations: 
 

11.1  Decisions are required as part of this report to enable a company to be set up and make key 
business related decisions. Failure to do this now could jeopardise funding streams and the 
decisions the council has already taken in connection with the lease of the space at the Sands 
building. 
 

12.0  Equalities considerations: 
 

12.1  There are no equalities considerations with regard to this report. 
 

13.0  Sustainability, climate change and environmental considerations: 
 

13.1  Sustainability, climate change and environmental considerations have formed part of the 
design process for Showtown which includes: 

 Using materials low in embodied energy; 

 Using naturally sustainable sources; 

 Selecting recycled materials, have a high recycled content and or can be recycled after 
use; 

 Sourcing local materials; 

 Specifying design that reduces water consumption throughout construction and 
operation; 

 Using low water consumption fittings; 

 Managing contractor’s operations to avoid pollution 

 Prioritising robustness and energy efficiency as part of the design, materials and 
systems; 

 Designing a museum that embodies flexibility to reduce the cost and complexity of 
future changes; 

 Encouraging use of public transport by both staff and visitors 

Page 67



 
14.0  Internal/external consultation undertaken: 

 
14.1  This areas covered in this report have been considered in detail by the Museum Project 

Board. 
 

15.0  Background papers: 
 

15.1  None. 
 
16.0 0 Key decision information: 

 
16.1  Is this a key decision? 

 
No 

16.2  If so, Forward Plan reference number: 
 

      

16.3  If a key decision, is the decision required in less than five days? 
 

No 

16.4  If yes, please describe the reason for urgency: 
 

  
 

17.0  Call-in information: 
 

17.1  Are there any grounds for urgency, which would cause this decision to be 
exempt from the call-in process?  
 

 
No 

17.2  If yes, please give reason: 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

TO BE COMPLETED BY THE HEAD OF DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE 

18.0  Scrutiny Committee Chairman (where appropriate): 
 

 Date informed:       Date approved: 
 

      

19.0  Declarations of interest (if applicable): 
 

19.1   
 

Page 68



20.0  Executive decision: 
 

20.1   
 

21.0  Date of Decision:    
 

21.1   
 

22.0  Reason(s) for decision: 
 

22.1   
 

23.0 1 Date Decision published: 
 

23.1   
 

24.0  Executive Members in attendance:   
 

24.1        
 

25.0  Call-in:   
 

25.1        
 

26.0  Notes:   
 

26.1        
 

 

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 SUPPORTED HOUSING SCRUTINY REVIEW FINAL REPORT
	Appendix 2a Supported Housing Scrutiny Final Report

	3 UPDATE TO THE COUNCIL PLAN
	Appendix 3a Council Plan

	4 COUNCIL TAX 2022/23
	5 BLACKPOOL HERITAGE AND MUSEUM TRUST

